# In the District of Columbia Court of Appeals



SARAH STAAB

Defendant-Appellant,

v.

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.

Plaintiff-Appellees.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Case No. 2015-CA-004100 R(RP) before the Hon. Fern F. Saddler and the Hon. Maurice A. Ross

## **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF (REDACTED)**

Robert C. Gill (DC Bar No. 413163) Saul Ewing LLP 1919 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Suite 550 Washington, DC 20006 Robert.Gill@saul.com Telephone: (202) 295-6605

Counsel For Defendant-Appellant Sarah Staab

##

### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal because the D.C. Superior Court entered a final judgment against the Defendant below, Sarah N. Staab, after it granted the motion for summary judgment filed by Plaintiff Wells Fargo Bank NA ("Wells Fargo" or the "Bank"), and denied the motion for summary judgment filed by Ms. Staab. These rulings disposed of all claims by all parties. Ms. Staab then timely invoked this Court's appellate jurisdiction.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the lower court erred by granting the Bank leave to amend its complaint more than five years after the foreclosure sale at issue in this case, where the Bank failed to justify its delay in seeking the amendment, the amendment alleged facts which should have been included in its original complaint, and asserted entirely new legal theories?
- 2. Whether the state law claims alleging invalidity of the foreclosure sale were timely?
- 3. Whether the Bank's claim that a portion of the D.C. Condominium Act is pre-empted by federal law was timely?
- 4. Whether the condominium association which conducted the foreclosure sale at issue in this case was a necessary party?

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This judicial foreclosure action was filed by the Bank more than eight years ago in 2015. This action is based on a loan default by the Bank's borrower that occurred in 2011, more than a dozen years ago.

Plaintiff alleges that it is the holder of a promissory note secured by a deed of trust on the property at issue in this case, which is a residential condominium unit located at 601 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Unit No. 308, Washington, DC 20004 (the "Property"). When the Bank filed this action, the obligor on the deed of trust, Defendant William J. Sutcliffe, who is the former property owner, had been in default on his mortgage for approximately four years.

During that four year period Sutcliffe also failed to pay condominium assessments owed to the governing condominium association, known as the Residential Association of the Pennsylvania, a Condominium (the "Association"). This led the Association to foreclose on the Property to enforce its statutory lien rights for all condominium assessments owed to it. The foreclosure sale took place on October 15, 2013. Ms. Staab was the winning bidder at the foreclosure sale.

Among the lien rights that the Association enforced was its statutory "super-priority" lien for the most recent six months of unpaid assessments owed. Under D.C. Code § 42-1903.13, the foreclosure of a super-priority lien has the effect of extinguishing even a purchase money deed of trust on the foreclosed property.

Chase Plaza Condominium Association, Inc. v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 98 A.3d 166, 178 (D.C. 2014). Therefore, when the Association foreclosed on its super-priority lien, that sale extinguished Plaintiff's deed of trust. Ms. Staab's purchase of the Property was therefore not subject to the lien of the Bank's mortgage.

In 2019, at a time when discovery was nearly completed, the Bank requested leave to amend its complaint. Ms. Staab opposed the amendment. The lower court granted the motion to amend, and the Bank was given leave to file its amended pleading. The Bank then filed its Amended Complaint.

The Amended Complaint asserted for the first time materially different facts (as distinguished from new or recently discovered facts), as well as different legal theories. For example, the Bank alleged for the first time that Fannie Mae had acquired the loan which is the subject of this foreclosure action in 2006, thirteen years before it amended its pleading. (JA216 at ¶ 11). In the original complaint the Bank alleged that *it* owned the note which is secured by a deed of trust on the Property (JA032 at ¶ 3), but it turns out that allegation was false. As a consequence of its new legal theories, in its amended pleading the Bank alleged that Ms. Staab never owned the Property and that the Association's foreclosure sale was invalid. (JA215-JA237, *passim*).

In its Amended Complaint the Bank also joined the Association as a new party to this action. The Association moved to dismiss the claims against it in the Amended Complaint, which the Bank opposed. The Bank later voluntarily dismissed the Association from this action.

Ms. Staab answered the Amended Complaint. After the completion of discovery both parties moved for summary judgment. The lower court resolved those motions in favor of the Plaintiff, and entered final judgment. Ms. Staab timely noticed this appeal.

## PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The foreclosure sale by the Association took place on October 15, 2013. The Bank filed its single-count judicial foreclosure complaint on June 3, 2015. The Complaint alleged that Mr. Sutcliffe defaulted in making payments on his mortgage beginning in July of 2011. (JA033 at ¶¶ 12, 15). Other than alleging that Ms. Staab was the record owner of the property, and referencing the deed of conveyance to her from the Association, the Complaint failed to assert any claims about the foreclosure sale itself, including any allegations of its invalidity.

In her Answer to the Complaint, Ms. Staab asserted an affirmative defense based on the *Chase Plaza* decision, alleging that the condominium association foreclosure sale extinguished the Bank's interest in the property. (JA103 at ¶ 5).

In 2019, more than five years after the Association's foreclosure sale, the Bank filed its Amended Complaint. The Amended Complaint retained the Bank's only original claim as Count 1, which sought judicial foreclosure. The Amended Complaint joined the Association, as an additional defendant. The Amended Complaint also asserted the following new claims: Declaratory Judgment (Count 2); Quiet Title (Count 3); Declaratory Judgment to invalidate the foreclosure sale to Ms. Staab and quiet title (Count 4); Unjust Enrichment against the Association (Count 5); Unjust Enrichment against the Association (Count 6); Equitable Estoppel against the Association (Count 7); and Breach of Contract against the Association (Count 8).

The Association moved to dismiss the claims against it, arguing that, among other things, the new claims were untimely based on a foreclosure sale in 2013. The Bank then voluntarily dismissed all of its claims against the Association on August 20, 2019. Accordingly, only Counts 1 through 4 against Ms. Staab remained for adjudication.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 22, 2006 Defendant William Sutcliffe purchased the Property, which is a residential condominium unit located at 601 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Unit No. 308, Washington, DC. (JA216 at ¶ 8; JA245-JA263). The Property is located in a Condominium known as "The Pennsylvania." (JA248).

To finance his purchase of the Property, Sutcliffe executed a promissory note (the "Note") to memorialize his loan of \$193,000.00 (the "Loan") from Wells Fargo. (JA216 at ¶ 9; JA242-JA244).

Sutcliffe encumbered the Property with a deed of trust dated February 22, 2006 (the "Deed of Trust") to secure the Note. (JA216 at ¶ 10; JA245-263).

Beginning on July 1, 2011, Sutcliffe stopped paying his mortgage on the Property, and failed to cure the default. (JA217 at ¶¶ 15, 18; JA319 at 10:21-11:5; 13:5-10).

Sutcliffe also failed to pay assessments imposed by the Association on the Property. By February of 2011 Sutcliffe had become delinquent on his assessments. On June 2, 2011, the Association gave notice of its intent to record a lien against the Property based on failure to pay the assessments. (JA330-JA333).

On January 13, 2012 the Association recorded a lien against the Property based on Sutcliffe's failure to pay condominium assessments for the period of February 1, 2011 through December 31, 2011. (JA335-JA339).

On March 9, 2012 the Association again gave notice of its intent to record another lien against the property based on Sutcliffe's failure to pay assessments. (JA341-JA344). The Association then filed a complaint to enforce its liens for unpaid assessments, styled *Residential Association of the Pennsylvania v. William J. Sutcliffe*, 2012 CA 8010 R(RP).

On June 1, 2012, a Notice of Condominium Lien for Assessments Due was recorded against the Property based on Sutcliffe's failure to pay assessments.

(JA273).

On May 30, 2013 a Notice of Condominium Lien for Assessments Due was recorded against the Property based on Sutcliffe's failure to pay assessments. (JA274).

On July 12, 2013 the Association obtained a judgment against Sutcliffe on its complaint for unpaid assessments in the amount of \$17,999.19. (JA346-JA347).

On September 10, 2013 the Association executed and filed its Notice of Foreclosure sale for the Property. (JA277-JA278).

By the time of the foreclosure sale on October 15, 2013, Sutcliffe owed a total of \$20,428.43 to the Association in unpaid assessments. (JA275-JA278). The \$20,428.43 included the amounts represented by the July 12, 2013 judgment.

Consequently, the Association sought to recover its most recent six months of assessments on the Property, in addition to the older unpaid assessments which dated back to February 1, 2011. The foreclosure sale was based on both the Association's lien rights under D.C. Code Section 42-1903, and on the Association's rights as a judgment creditor based on the judgment it obtained against Sutcliffe in the lower court on July 12, 2013.

The Bank reviewed a title search that was performed on the Property in 2015, which revealed a lien on the Property in favor of the Association. (JA324 at 42:3-19). However, several liens and a judgment in favor of the Association also had been entered against Sutcliffe and recorded against the Property in the land records as well, as indicated above.

In its Amended Complaint filed in 2019, the Bank alleged for the first time that Fannie Mae acquired the Loan in 2006, thirteen years before. (JA216 at ¶ 11). The Bank made no effort to explain in the briefing on its motion to amend its Complaint why, if Fannie Mae's ownership of the Loan was important, the fact of its ownership of the Loan was not disclosed before 2019, or why it had not previously asserted its new claims.

In its deposition the Bank admitted that it did not file a formal assignment document in the D.C. land records evidencing a transfer of the Loan from Plaintiff to Fannie Mae. (JA320-JA321 at 25:4-9; 33:3-8). Consequently, Fannie Mae's alleged ownership of the Loan is not a matter of public record which can be determined from a search of the land records.

Nonetheless, the Bank claimed in its Amended Complaint that no foreclosure sale of the Property could extinguish Fannie Mae's interest in the Property because consent to such a sale was required, but not granted by FHFA. (JA224-JA226 at ¶¶ 52-63; ¶¶ 74-75). Because Fannie Mae's alleged interest in

the Property was never publicly disclosed, neither the Association nor the rest of the world were on notice of Fannie Mae's alleged interest in the Property. The Association also was without notice of any facts giving rise to any duty to investigate Fannie Mae's interest in the Property, or to obtain such consent.

The Bank alleges that it "has authority to protect and enforce Fannie Mae's interest in the Property." (JA224 at ¶ 55). This conclusory statement is not correct. To be precise, the Bank had a contractual duty to protect Fannie Mae's interest in the Property. The Fannie Mae Servicing Guide serves as an agreement between Fannie Mae and its servicers. The Fannie Mae Servicing Guide provides generally that "the borrower will pay special assessments directly, but if he or she fails to do so, the servicer must advance its own funds to pay them if that is necessary to protect the priority of Fannie Mae's lien." (JA349-JA351 at pp. 302-1 and 302-2).

Fannie Mae's Servicing Guide acknowledges that jurisdictions which have adopted the Uniform Condominium Act (UCA), the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act (UCIOA), or a similar statute (like the District of Columbia) have laws which provide that up to six months of delinquent condominium assessments have lien priority superior to that of a mortgage lien. Fannie Mae requires that once a borrower is 60 days' delinquent in payment of these assessments that the

servicer advance the monies necessary to protect the priority of Fannie Mae's mortgage lien. (JA351).

In its deposition the Bank admitted that it had the obligation as servicer of the Loan to respond to any liens against the Property. (JA324 at 44:6-11).

The Bank alleges that it pays real estate taxes on real property which is pledged as security for loans. (JA326 at 50:3-16).

The Bank also admitted that, as a general matter, it does *not* proactively pay condominium association fees. (JA326 at 50:17-51:5). The Bank also admitted that it made no effort to pay condominium assessments due on the Property in this case. (JA326 at 52:4-8).

Consequently, it is undisputed that the Bank failed to satisfy its contractual obligations as servicer of the Loan to pay delinquent condominium assessments for the Property. This failure by the Bank was the cause of the foreclosure sale.

## THE APPLICABLE STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue of whether the lower court erred in permitting the Bank to amend its Complaint is subject to an abuse of discretion standard on review. *Gordon v. Raven Systems & Research, Inc.*, 462 A.2d 10, 13 (D.C. 1983).

All other issues arose in the context of a disposition below on summary judgment. Accordingly, this Court "conducts a *de novo* review of the record and

applies the same principles employed by the trial court in initially considering the motion." *Saucier v. Countrywide Home Loans*, 64 A.3d 428, 437 (D.C. 2013).

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The lower court erred in granting the Bank leave to amend more than five years after the foreclosure at issue, and more than three years after the filing of the original Complaint. The new facts alleged and new claims asserted could have been included in the original Complaint. The Bank offered no good justification for its delay in seeking the amendment in its motion to amend. Given that success appeared unlikely on the single claim originally asserted, the amendment appears to have been a new strategy designed to avoid imminent defeat. The amendment was particularly unjust here, where the Bank was contractually obligated to pay both real estate taxes and condominium assessments on the Property under the terms of its servicing agreement with Fannie Mae. If the Bank had satisfied its contractual obligation to pay the delinquent condominium assessments, which the Bank admits it was aware of, this litigation could have been avoided in its entirety.

Actions alleging wrongful foreclosure in D.C. are subject to a three year statute of limitations. Actions for wrongful foreclosure by Fannie Mae or those acting for it under the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 also are subject to a three year statute of limitations. The Amended Complaint which first

asserted such wrongful foreclosure claims was not filed until more than five years after the foreclosure at issue, and was not timely.

Although the Bank joined the Association as a party below, it inexplicably dismissed the Association from the case shortly after the Association was joined through the Amended Complaint. Since the deed to the Property came from the Association as grantor, the Association is an indispensable party to an action seeking to rescind the foreclosure sale.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED GRANTING LEAVE TO AMEND

The Property was the subject of the Association's foreclosure sale on October 15, 2013. On June 3, 2015 the Bank filed its single-count complaint for judicial foreclosure. The Complaint alleged that Mr. Sutcliffe defaulted in making payments on his mortgage beginning in July of 2011. (JA033 at ¶¶ 12, 15). Other than alleging that Ms. Staab was the record owner of the property, and a passing referencing to the deed of conveyance to her from the Association, the Complaint failed to assert any claims about the foreclosure sale itself, including any allegations about its validity.

The Bank filed its Amended Complaint on March 11, 2019. The Amended Complaint included the same count for relief that was contained in the original Complaint. In addition, the Bank alleged for the first time that Fannie Mae

acquired the Loan in 2006, thirteen years before. (JA216 at ¶ 11). The Amended Complaint also asserted for the first time additional claims where the Bank alleged that the foreclosure sale to Ms. Staab was invalid. (*See, e.g.*, Counts 2, 3 and 4). The Bank could have asserted these new claims, and could have joined the Association as a party, when it filed its original Complaint.

Whether "justice so requires" allowing an amendment is determined with reference to five factors: "(1) the number of requests to amend made by the movant; (2) the length of time the case has been pending; (3) bad faith or dilatory tactics on the part of the movant; (4) the merit of the proffered pleading; and (5) prejudice to the nonmoving party." *Sherman v. Adoption Ctr. of Washington, Inc.*, 741 A.2d 1031, 1037-38 (D.C. 1999) (citing *Johnson v. Fairfax Village Condo. IV*, 641 A.2d 495, 501 (D.C. 1994)).

The fact that more than five years had elapsed since the foreclosure, and that more than three years had elapsed since the Bank filed its Complaint, do not support the lower court's ruling. Nor does the fact that discovery was nearly completed (except for the Bank's refusal to provide a designee for deposition). The fact that the Bank could have included all of the claims made in its Amended Complaint in its original Complaint is perhaps the most unhelpful fact. Taken together, all of these facts weighed heavily against granting the amendment. *See Sherman*, 741 A.2d at 1038 (finding that delay of one year and eight months

between filing of complaint and motion to amend, and that motion was filed after close of discovery, supported denial of the requested amendment).

It is appropriate for the court to examine the "proffered explanation for the lengthy delay," as well as the timing of the request, which can suggest an "unacceptable dilatory approach." *Id.* (quoting *Molovinsky v. Monterey Co-op., Inc.*, 689 A.2d 531, 534 (D.C. 1996)). This is particularly true when the motion to amend is "filed only after defeat seemed imminent." *Molovinsky*, 689 A.2d at 534.

The Bank did not offer any explanation why it did not assert the claims in its Amended Complaint in its original Complaint. The fact that its original claim lacked legal merit is the most likely explanation.

The Association foreclosed on the Property by enforcing its liens for condominium assessments under D.C. Code §42-1903.13 and its judgment, including its "super-priority" lien for the most recent six months of assessments established by D.C. Code §42-1903.13(a)(2). When the Association foreclosed on its super-priority lien, the Bank's Deed of Trust on the Property was extinguished. The Bank was contractually obligated to and could have paid and satisfied the liens for unpaid condominium assessments before the foreclosure sale, and in doing so could have prevented the foreclosure sale from going forward.

D.C. Code §42-1903.13(a)(2) states, in relevant part, that a lien for unpaid condominium assessments shall:

be prior to a mortgage or deed of trust . . . recorded after March 7, 1991, to the extent of the common expense assessments based on the periodic budget adopted by the unit owners' association which would have become due in the absence of acceleration during the 6 months immediately preceding institution of an action to enforce the lien or recordation of a memorandum of lien against the title to the unit by the unit owners' association.

D.C. Code § 42-1903.13(a)(2). The statute "effectively splits condominium-assessment liens into two liens of differing priority: (1) a lien for six months of assessments that is higher in priority than the first mortgage or first deed of trust—sometimes called a 'super-priority lien'—and (2) a lien for any additional unpaid assessments that is lower in priority than the first mortgage or first deed of trust." *Chase Plaza*, 98 A.3d 166, 173 (D.C. 2014).

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