# District of Columbia Court of Appeals

Clerk of the Court Received 02/28/2024 05:27 PM Filed 02/28/2024 05:27 PM

SARAH STAAB,

Defendant-Appellant,

v.

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.,

Plaintiff-Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division Case No. 2015-CA-004100-(R)(RP), before Hon. Fern F. Saddler and Hon. Maurice A. Ross

## BRIEF OF APPELLEE WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.

\_\_\_\_\_

Daniel Z. Herbst, D.C. Bar No. 501161 REED SMITH LLP 1301 K Street, N.W., Suite 1000, East Tower Washington, D.C. 20005

Tel: (202) 414-9232 Fax: (202) 414-9299

Email: DHerbst@ReedSmith.com

Attorney for Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

### **RULE 28(A)(2) DISCLOSURE**

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Ms. Staab does not contest the Superior Court's merits holding that HERA voids the COA Sale and thereby preserves Fannie Mae's lien as a valid encumbrance against the Property. Instead, Ms. Staab takes issue with three preliminary, and largely procedural, rulings. Specifically, Ms. Staab contends that: (1) the Superior Court abused its discretion in granting leave to amend the complaint, (2) the amended claims were untimely, and (3) the COA was an indispensable party. (*See* JA507; JA509).

Ms. Staab is wrong on all counts. The Superior Court did not abuse its discretion by granting leave to amend because leave is to be liberally granted and because the record demonstrates that the Superior Court considered all relevant factors. The amended claims are not time-barred based on multiple theories under D.C. and federal law. The COA is not indispensable because complete relief can be accorded between Wells Fargo and Ms. Staab, the COA can protect its own interests in a later action, there is no risk of inconsistent obligations, and the COA can be rejoined if needed. Thus, the Court of Appeals should affirm and dismiss the appeal.

### **ARGUMENT**

### I. Leave to Amend Was within the Superior Court's Broad Discretion

Ms. Staab argues that the Superior Court should have denied leave to amend as untimely. Mot. at 11. As discussed below, that is not correct, but in any event, the decision falls well within the Superior Court's broad discretion.

The Court of Appeals reviews the issue of amendment for abuse of discretion. Gordon v. Raven Sys. & Rsch., Inc., 462 A.2d 10, 13 (D.C. 1983). The Superior Court has "wide discretion," see Blake Constr. Co. v. Alliance Plumbing & Heating Co., 388 A.2d 1217, 1220 (D.C. 1978), and "[i]n the absence of manifest error, amounting to an abuse of that discretion, the decision of the trial court to grant ... such motion is not reviewable on appeal." See Vasaio v. Campitelli, 222 A.2d 710, 711 (D.C. 1966) (citation omitted).

Leave to amend "shall be freely given when justice so requires," *see* Super. Ct. Civ. R. 15(a)(3), and five factors guide courts in exercising their discretion:

- (1) "the number of requests to amend;"
- (2) "the length of time that the case has been pending;"
- (3) "the presence of bad faith or dilatory reasons for the request;"
- (4) "the merit of the proffered amended pleading;" and
- (5) "any prejudice to the non-moving party."

See Pannell v. District of Columbia, 829 A.2d 474, 477 (D.C. 2003).

Here, the Superior Court did not abuse its discretion in granting leave to amend, and Ms. Staab failed in her burden to show that any manifest error occurred. The Superior Court considered each of the five factors, and its sound analysis suggests that while the second factor may favor Ms. Staab, the other four factors (including the focus of Ms. Staab's appeal, the third factor) favored Wells Fargo. Ms. Staab's scattered allegations of error do not hold up against the Superior Court's well reasoned decision, which was well within its broad discretion to make.

### A. The Superior Court Properly Considered Each Factor

As discussed below, the record shows that the Superior Court considered arguments on all five factors, exercised sound discretion, and ultimately found "good cause" to grant leave to amend. (*See* JA213).

## 1. Number of Requests to Amend

As for the first factor, "the number of requests to amend," *see Pannell*, 829 A.2d at 477, it is undisputed that Wells Fargo made but a single request to amend. (*See* JA106; JA012). This is not, therefore, a case where a plaintiff had made serial

amendments. Nor, because Wells Fargo amended only once, is there any conceivable argument here that the substance of a later amendment could or should have been included in an earlier amendment. *See Crowley v. N. Am. Telecomms. Ass'n*, 691 A.2d 1169, 1174 (D.C. 1997) (holding that the trial court abused its discretion in denying motion to amend the complaint, where "[t]he record reflects no other request to amend the complaint," especially "considered with the virtual presumption in favor of granting leave to amend, and the absence of any cogent reasons for denying the request.").

The Superior Court clearly had this first factor in mind when it observed that its decision was based "upon consideration of ... the entire record herein," (*see* JA213), as the entire record reflects that on February 13, 2019, Wells Fargo made its one and only request for leave to amend. (*See* JA106; JA012). Accordingly, the Superior Court properly found that the first factor weighs in favor of Wells Fargo.

## 2. Length of Time That the Case Has Been Pending

As for the second factor, "the length of time that the case has been pending," see Pannell, 829 A.2d at 477, the initial complaint was filed on June 3, 2015. (See JA031).

The Superior Court noted that "[g]iven the length of time this case has been pending, [Ms. Staab's] argument that [Wells Fargo's] Motion is untimely has merit." (See JA213). The Superior Court ruled, however, that other factors favoring

amendment weighed more heavily in its discretionary analysis.

The Superior Court did not provide a detailed explanation on the point, but it stands to reason that all parties, and the courts, benefit from efficient and expeditious litigation. Wells Fargo agrees and certainly has no incentive to delay or prolong the proceedings. To the contrary, it is in Wells Fargo's interest to resolve the dispute promptly—unless and until the judgment becomes final, as a practical matter, Wells Fargo cannot enforce the underlying lien interest or collect on the Loan. Under the circumstances, the Superior Court had ample discretion to hold that the timing of the motion for leave to amend did not warrant denial.

### 3. Presence of Bad Faith or Dilatory Reasons for the Request

As for the third factor, "the presence of bad faith or dilatory reasons for the request," *see Pannell*, 829 A.2d at 477, Ms. Staab argues that "[Wells Fargo] offers no reason ... why it could not have included these claims at the beginning of this case." (*See* JA185). But Wells Fargo already gave a clear explanation:

there is good cause as to why [Wells Fargo] did not file these claims initially. The issue of whether the servicer of a loan owned by ... [Fannie Mae] ... has standing to argue that 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) preempts state law was recently decided by the Supreme Court of Nevada and the court held that it did. ... [Wells Fargo's] Motion is filed within a reasonable time of discovering the ability to assert the additional claims in its proposed amended complaint.

(JA198). Wells Fargo even attached the decision in its reply. (JA201-11); see Nationstar Mortg., LLC v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC, 133 Nev. 247, 248 (2017).

As Wells Fargo's briefing explained, its motion to amend was intended "to prevent any unnecessary delay should [Wells Fargo] have to file a separate action and either seek to stay or consolidate this matter," as "it would be more efficient to allow [Wells Fargo] to amend its complaint than, for example, to stay this case until [Wells Fargo's] new case against the [COA] is resolved." (See JA197-98). As Wells Fargo explained, "[i]t would serve justice and economy by having ... the declaratory claims, monetary claims and judicial sale claim resolved within the same case because they both involve the Property. Also, substantially similar facts would support a dispositive motion on all claims." (See JA108).

The Superior Court considered the third factor, as evidenced when it stated that it "believes that [Wells Fargo's] argument, that this amendment is in response to a change in the existing law, is sufficient to warrant leave to amend," (see JA213), and that it "finds [Wells Fargo's] argument, that a separate action against the [COA] would cause needless delay in this matter, to be persuasive." (See id.).

## 4. Merit of the Proffered Amended Pleading

As for the fourth factor, "the merit of the proffered amended pleading," see Pannell, 829 A.2d at 477, Ms. Staab argued that "it is not clear that [Wells Fargo] even has standing to assert the preemption claim." (See JA187). But as Wells Fargo explained to the Superior Court, such an argument was premature, as it relied on decisions applying Super. Ct. Civ. R. 12(b)(l), which governs motions to dismiss,

not motions to amend. (JA198-99). Further, the argument lacked support. Wells Fargo's motion to amend was informed by the Nevada Supreme Court's holding that a servicer "has standing to argue that 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) preempts state law." (JA198). But Ms. Staab cited no contrary decisions on standing, nor did she cite any "law requiring [Wells Fargo] *to prove* standing in order to seek leave to amend." (*See* JA199) (emphasis added).

The Superior Court considered the fourth factor, as evidenced by its remarks that it "believes that [Wells Fargo's] argument, that this amendment is in response to a change in the existing law, is sufficient to warrant leave to amend," and that "[u]ltimately, the [Superior] Court believes that the party and claims [Wells Fargo] seeks to add will allow for the most efficient resolution of the claims already before the [Superior] Court in this case." (See JA213). It is also evidenced by summary judgment in Wells Fargo's favor on a finding that 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) preempts state law. (See JA513-24).

## 5. Prejudice to the Non-Moving Party

As for the fifth factor, "prejudice to the non-moving party," *see Pannell*, 829 A.2d at 477, Wells Fargo argued to the Superior Court that "the granting of this Motion will not prejudice [Ms. Staab or the COA], nor would it delay the further prosecution of this case given that trial in this matter has not yet been scheduled. Rather, if the relief sought is denied, [Wells Fargo] will be prejudiced by needing to

file an unnecessary separate action, which would unnecessarily delay this case," partly because the two actions would "both involve the Property" and "substantially similar facts" and thus could be "resolved within the same." (See JA108). Wells Fargo also argued that "concerns of prejudice" were also inapplicable because "[h]ere, judgment has not been entered," so all relevant claims could be resolved together. (See JA198).

The Superior Court clearly had this fifth factor in mind when it observed that "the newly added claims involve a dispute over the same property already at issue in this case." (*See* JA213). This position proved accurate, as the matter was timely resolved on summary judgment after Wells Fargo amended the complaint.

### B. Ms. Staab's Manifest-Error Arguments Are Unpersuasive

As discussed below, Ms. Staab asks the Court of Appeals to weigh in on arguments the Superior Court already rejected. *See* Mot. at 12-19. But the decision is reviewed for abuse of discretion, not de novo. *Gordon*, 462 A.2d at 13. Ms. Staab failed to show any source of manifest error, as she instead repeats old arguments in hope of a different outcome. *See* Mot. at 12-19. Even if the Court of Appeals might have approached the issue somewhat differently—and Ms. Staab provides no compelling reason why it would have—the absence of any abuse of discretion by the Superior Court requires an affirmance.

### 1. Number of Requests to Amend

As for the first factor, Ms. Staab does not argue any error occurred.

### 2. Length of Time That the Case Has Been Pending

As for the second factor, Ms. Staab offers only the conclusory argument that the delay "do[es] not support the lower court's ruling." *See* Mot. at 13. But Ms. Staab ignores that *all of the other factors* favored Wells Fargo. (*See* JA213). This evidences sound legal reasoning by the Superior Court, not manifest error.

### 3. Presence of Bad Faith or Dilatory Reasons for the Request

As for the third factor, Ms. Staab reiterates her Superior Court argument that "Wells Fargo did not offer any explanation why it did not assert the claims in its Amended Complaint in its original Complaint." Mot. at 14. But Ms. Staab ignores Wells Fargo's clear explanation to the Superior Court: The motion was intended to prevent unnecessary delay following a decision from the Nevada Supreme Court that resolved a key point of law regarding Wells Fargo's standing to bring the amended claims. (See JA197-98).

Ms. Staab also speculates as to whether Wells Fargo moved to amend "only after defeat seemed imminent" under *Chase Plaza*, *Liu*, and *4700 Conn*. Mot. at 14-18. But Ms. Staab misapplies this factor: As confirmed by a case Ms. Staab cites,

See Chase Plaza Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.,
 98 A.3d 166 (D.C. 2014); Liu v. US. Bank, N.A., 179 A.3d 871 (D.C. 2018); 4700
 Conn 305 Tr. v. Capital One, N.A., 193 A.3d 762 (D.C. 2018).

timing could only ever be "suggestive," not conclusive, of a "dilatory approach." *Molovinsky v. Monterey Co-op., Inc.*, 689 A.2d 531, 534 (D.C. 1996); *see* Mot. at 14 (citing *Molovinsky*). And that decision favors Wells Fargo, not Ms. Staab—in *Molovinsky*, unlike here, "discovery had been completed," "summary judgment had been granted" on one claim, and "it appeared that the SOL would foreclose" the other. 689 A.2d at 534. Here, by contrast, the amendment was offered while discovery was ongoing, *see* Mot. at 13, summary judgment was not yet briefed, (*see* JA001-30), and Ms. Staab failed to raise any statute-of-limitations arguments when opposing Wells Fargo's motion for leave to amend.<sup>2</sup> (*See* JA180-89).

Ms. Staab next argues "that discovery was nearly completed" and that this should have "weighed heavily against granting the amendment." *See* Mot at 13. But Ms. Staab does not argue that the amendment had any unduly prejudicial effect on the course of discovery. And after the amendment was granted, Ms. Staab's only additional discovery related to Fannie Mae's ownership, a straightforward issue that was resolved with ample and unambiguous evidence. Regardless, Ms. Staab cites nothing to suggest that it was a manifest error to grant an amendment when discovery was "nearly complete." In fact, as recognized by a case Ms. Staab cites, even "the passage of time and *close of discovery* preceding a motion to amend *do not* ordinarily in and of themselves call for denial of the motion[.]" *Sherman v. Adoption Ctr. of* 

The amended claims were, in fact, timely, as discussed below. See supra § II.

*Washington, Inc.*, 741 A.2d 1031, 1038 (D.C. 1999) (emphasis added); *see* Mot. at 13-14 (citing *Sherman*).

Finally, Ms. Staab asserts that the amendment was offered in bad faith because Wells Fargo was supposedly "contractually obligated to" pay liens on past-due assessments, which, she claims, "could have prevented the foreclosure sale from going forward." Mot. at 14. This argument concerns the merits, not whether the motion to amend was offered in good faith. But in any event, it is unfounded and incorrect. As a non-party to the contract, Ms. Staab may not rely on or enforce its terms. Fields v. Tillerson, 726 A.2d 670, 672-73 (D.C. 1999). And, in any event, the contract cannot supersede the Federal Foreclosure Bar's protection of conservatorship assets, regardless of other protections. Berezovsky v. Moniz, 869 F.3d 923 (9th Cir. 2017). The contract requires servicers to pay assessments where necessary to protect Fannie Mae's lien. But here, Fannie Mae is under FHFA's conservatorship, so paying assessments was *not* necessary: the Federal Foreclosure Bar protected Fannie Mae's interest regardless, as the Superior Court rightly confirmed. (See JA507-10).

## 4. Merit of the Proffered Amended Pleading

As for the fourth factor, Ms. Staab does not substantively address the merits of the amended pleading itself, and she instead argues that Wells Fargo "could have included all of the claims made in its Amended Complaint in its original Complaint,"

which "weighed heavily against granting the amendment." *See* Mot at 13. But the Superior Court was persuaded by Wells Fargo's argument that a decision resolving a key point of law warranted leave to amend, and Ms. Staab fails to cite a single decision suggesting that this reasoning comprised manifest error.

### 5. Prejudice to the Non-Moving Party

As for the fifth factor, Ms. Staab failed to identify any specific prejudice. Instead, she reiterated that there was no "satisfactory reason for the delay," and theorized that an unspecified prejudice might arise "because expanding the litigation and reopening discovery to encompass the new claims would cause [her] to incur additional delay and expense." (See JA186) (citations and quotations omitted). But here, no discovery was needed as to Wells Fargo's purely legal claims related to same subject matter: the Property.

## II. The Superior Court Correctly Deemed the Amended Claims Timely

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